1979

# Charles Kinne v. Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is a review of the Findings and Order entered by the Industrial Commission of Utah on February 23, 1979 and Supplemental Order dated March 27, 1979 in the matter of Susan Wynn, Widow of Max L. Wynn, deceased, vs. Freeport Transport, Inc., State Insurance Fund and Charles Kinne.

DISPOSITION OF INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

The Industrial Commission entered a finding that the decedent, May L. Wynn, was in the course of his employment at the time of his death and by Supplemental Order held that the decedent was an employee of the plaintiff.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON REVIEW

The plaintiff requests this Court to set aside the finding of the Industrial Commission and the award made on the grounds that the facts do not support the award.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about May 12, 1976, Charles W. Kinne entered into an Agreement with Freeport Transport, Inc. whereby Kinne would lease his tractor to Freeport for their use and benefit. (R321-328) The Agreement defined Freeport as Carrier and Kinne as Contractor. The pertinent parts of the Agreement provide:

"During the entire term hereof, the sole possession, responsibility for and control and direction of the vehicular equipment described above and the drivers thereof, whether employees of Contractor or Carrier, shall reside in Carrier." (R322)

"Contractor shall be solely responsible for the direction and control of employees, agents and servants of Contractor, including selecting, hiring, supervising, directing, setting wages, hours and working conditions, and paying and adjusting grievances of the employees." (R323)

"No other provisions of this Agreement shall be interpreted or construed as creating or establishing the relationship of employer and employee between Carrier and Contractor or any driver, agent, servant, or any other employee of Contractor." (R324)

"Contractor shall maintain workmans compensation coverage for all employees, agents or servants employed by the Contractor in the performance of this contract." (R326)

"Proof of such coverage (workmans compensation) as is required by this paragraph and notice to Carrier of cancellations thereof shall be submitted to Contractor by Carrier." (R326)

"Carrier assumes liability for bodily injuries to or the death of any person other than Contractor, the employees, agents or servants of Contractor resulting from the negligent operation, maintenance or use of the vehicle described herein." (R325)

"Carrier shall maintain insurance for the aforesaid liabilities, injuries, losses or damages as required by the Interstate Commerce Commission and the State and other governmental authorities." (R326)

Kinne failed to get workmans compensation coverage and Freeport Transport, Inc. failed to require proof of the workmans compensation coverage as required by the Lease Agreement. (R232)

Approximately the last part of October, Max L. Wynn, a theretofore unemployed truck driver, found a job answering an advertisement for A & K Railroad Materials who referred him to Mr. Kinne. (R52)

The application of employment came from A & K Railroad Materials. (R54) A & K Railroad Materials and Freeport Transport, Inc. have common stockholders and



share space in the same building at Freeport Center.

(R80) Mr. Wynn had to pass a road test and written test administered by Freeport Transport, Inc. in order to become employed. (R56-58) Freeport Transport, Inc. made sure all drivers took the physical required by the Department of Transportation. Freeport Transport, Inc. required the drivers to call each day so they could schedule their freight. (R60) Freeport Transport, Inc. administered all the record keeping required by the Department of Transportation as it referred to the records kept by the drivers. (R78) All trip envelopes and supplies were furnished by Freeport Transport, Inc. to the drivers. (R101) Signs were placed on the sides of the tractor indicating it was engaged in the business of Freeport Transport, Inc. (R258) All safety standards for drivers and equipment were administered and controlled by Freeport Transport, Inc. (R87) If problems arose with the driver refusing to take loads or failing to perform in a manner satisfactory to Freeport Transport, Inc., they would request disciplinary action by Mr. Kinne and on at least one occasion at the request of Freeport, Mr. Kinne discharged one of his drivers for failing to perform in a satisfactory manner. (R89, 90, 143, 221) Freeport Transport, Inc. was the ICC carrier and ultimately responsible to the ICC for their drivers. (R81)

On November 9, 1976, Max L. Wynn picked up his load at Paonia, Colorado and arrived in Price, Utah at 1:00 p.m. This was a Tuesday. On November 10, 1976, he drove from Price and arrived at Clearfield approximately 10:00 a.m. (R91-93) The nature of Mr. Wynn's load prevented him from driving at night or on weekends or holidays and there was some indication that there may have been a holiday coming up in Nevada on the following Thursday or Friday. It took Mr. Wynn eight hours of driving to get from Paonia, Colorado to Clearfield, Utah which computed out to an average fifty miles per hour rate of travel. His ultimate destination was Milpitas, California which could have been driven in an additional sixteen hours traveling at fifty miles per hour. (R91-96) Mr. Wynn decided to return to Clearfield rather than proceed directly to California. During the next couple of days he ran shag loads for Freeport Transport, Inc. and was then instructed to proceed to California the next Monday, November 15, 1976. (R295-298)

There was no requirement, either by Charles Kinne or Freeport Transport, Inc., that Mr. Wynn take his tractor home. (R37, 134, 187, 217) On at least one occasion, his wife had taken him to Freeport Transport, Inc. to start a trip. (R37) On this particular occasion,

he took the tractor home and on November 15, 1976, while proceeding towards Freeport Transport, Inc. to start the completion of his trip to California, he drove around a crossing guard at a railroad track and was struck by a train and killed. (R201-202)

The widow of Max L. Wynn, Susan Wynn, filed her claim for workmans compensation benefits naming Freeport Transport, Inc., Charles Kinne and the State Insurance Fund as defendants. The State Insurance Fund was the insurer of Freeport Transport, Inc. Charles Kinne had no workmans compensation insurance. The matter was heard on October 5, 1977 before the Honorable Joseph C. Foley.

On July 25, 1978, Joseph C. Foley, the Administrative Law Judge, entered his Findings and Conclusions. In the Findings Joseph Foley stated: "Max L. Wynn was a statutory employee of Freeport Transport, Inc. and not of Charles Kinne by virtue of the amount of control and direction provided to Freeport Transport, Inc. in the Lease Agreement entered into by Charles Kinne and Freeport Transport, Inc." (R404) As a conclusion of law, Judge Foley held that Max L. Wynn was not in the scope and course of his employment at the time of his fatal accident and compensation benefits were therefore denied. (R404)

Thereafter, the widow filed a Motion for Review and on February 23, 1979 the Industrial Commission granted the Motion. (R438) The Commission, although not specifically deciding that Max L. Wynn was not the employee of Charles Kinne, implied that they were concurring in the Administrative Law Judge's decision that he was only the employee of Freeport Transport, Inc. The Commission further held that Mr. Wynn was in the course of his employment at the time of his fatal accident and the widow was therefore entitled to benefits. By letter dated March 19, 1979, the lawyer representing the State Insurance Fund requested the Commission to clarify its Order as to whether or not there was any joint liability of Charles Kinne with the statutory employer, State Insurance Fund, for the payment of benefits. (R448)

By Supplemental Order dated March 27, 1979, the Commission held that Max L. Wynn was the employee of Charles Kinne pursuant to the Lease Agreement and, therefore, Charles Kinne was jointly and severally liable for the compensation award to the widow. (R450)

On April 6, 1979 Charles Kinne objected to the Supplemental Order and requested further review which was denied on April 18, 1979. (R453-456)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

MAX L. WYNN WAS OUTSIDE THE COURSE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT CAUSING HIS DEATH.

The evidence at the hearing established that there was no requirement for Mr. Wynn to use the tractor to go to and from work. He would occasionally take it home for the purpose of servicing the tractor, but there was no requirement, either from Freeport Transport, Inc. or Charles Kinne, that he keep the truck at his home. There was adequate space at Freeport Transport Inc. to park the truck and keep it when it was not in use. It is clear that Mr. Wynn's election to go to Clearfield rather than to drive on to California which was his ultimate destination was his own choice and not at the direction of or for the benefit of his employer. It was well established that Mr. Wynn had sufficient time, even assuming there may have been a holiday in Nevada, to deliver his load to Milpitas, California by Friday evening.

In Barney v. Industrial Commission, 550 P. 2d 1271 (1973), the deceased was a bricklayer who was killed in an automobile accident while returning home from work. He lived more than sixty miles from the job site and pursuant to the agreement with his employer, was paid

an additional \$1.75 per hour for traveling time when his job was more than sixty miles from his labor union temple.

The Court held that since the employer had no control over where the deceased lived or how he got to work, he was deemed not to be in the course of his employment while going to and from the premises where he was employed. Barney can only be distinguished from the present case by the fact that the decedent, Max L. Wynn, was driving Charles Kinne's tractor at the time of his death. The election to drive the tractor by Mr. Wynn was his own since there was no requirement that he do so.

In Greer v. Industrial Commission, 290 P. 900, it was established that an employee going home from his place of employment and not on any special mission for his employer was not in the course of his employment at the time of his accident. The Court stated that the fact the employee was carrying a saw belonging to the employer which was his duty to keep sharp was only incidental.

In the present case, the fact that Mr. Wynn happened to be in the tractor as opposed to his own personal transportation was also incidental and not

for the benefit of his employer.

The three cases cited by the applicant in her Motion for Review are all distinguishable from the present case. In Bailey v. Industrial Commission, 398 P. 2d 545 (1965), it was the decedent's regular and definite duty to take the vehicle to his work each morning. Mr. Wynn, on the other hand, had no definite duty to take the vehicle home.

In Mosher v. Industrial Commission, 440 P. 2d 23 (1968), Mosher was injured while carrying out specific instructions from his employer as to how he should start the truck. It was the carrying out of these instructions from his employer that subsequently caused his burns and disability. The decedent, Max L. Wynn, was under no instructions to drive the truck and specifically was under no instructions to drive around a railroad crossing guard in a negligent fashion which subsequently resulted in his death.

In Hafers, Inc. v. Industrial Commission, 526 P. 2d 1188, the employee was injured while working on an automobile assigned to him and whose definite duties included keeping the automobile in a safe and efficient condition. The plaintiff agrees that had Mr. Wynn been injured while working on the tractor, he would have been

in the course of his employment, but that is not the fact situation and is clearly distinguishable.

## POINT II

MAX L. WYNN WAS NOT A STATUTORY EMPLOYEE OF CHARLES KINNE AND CHARLES KINNE THEREFORE HAS NO JOINT LIABILITY FOR WORKMANS COMPENSATION.

No appeal has been filed by Freeport Transport, Inc. or the State Insurance Fund contesting the finding that Max L. Wynn was the statutory employee of Freeport Transport, Inc. The Supplemental Order entered by the Industrial Commission on March 27, 1979 imposed joint and several liability on Charles Kinne. The pertinent language states:

"We also find that the Lease Agreement made Mr. Charles Kinne the decedent's employer and although not exercised, he did have the right of control over the drivers enough, we conclude, to have made Mr. Wynn an employee of Mr. Kinne. We therefore conclude that the decedent was statutorily employed by Freeport Transport, Inc. and was also an employee of Mr. Kinne pursuant to the Lease Agreement which also required that Mr. Kinne carry workmans compensation coverage for his drivers."

It is submitted that the Commission has exceeded its powers by imposing compensation liability on Charles Kinne through interpretation of a contract between Charles Kinne and Freeport Transport, Inc. It has clearly been found and held that all of the pertinent aspects of control



were exclusively those of Freeport Transport, Inc.

Most of the cases cited in Charles Kinne's original Memorandum to the Commission involved similar lease arrangements as the one used by Kinne and Freeport. In each of the cases, the interstate carrier was considered the sole responsible employer for purposes of workmans compensation and no joint or several liability was imposed upon the middleman in the lease arrangement.

In Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company v. Major, 226 N.E. 2d 74 (Ill. 1967), the Court considered a similar issue involving the workmans compensation liability of Major to drivers of leased trucks under a similar lease arrangement.

Major claimed they were not employees because they could make deliveries by any route they chose; they could hire other persons to drive their trucks; they could trip lease to other carriers; they were required to pay for repairs, gasoline, oil, tires, equipment and licenses; they were paid by the job not on a time basis; they did not receive a payroll check; they paid the collision insurance on their vehicles; and Major did not withhold any income tax from the money which he paid to them.

The Court held they were employees on two bases. First was the common law basis to determine whether one is an employer or an independent contractor. The Court found the language of the lease was equivalent to a provision that Major had a right to fire the drivers; that Major in fact did threaten to withhold drivers' checks; Major did require the drivers to show how their time was spent while on trips; that the drivers could not trip lease without first calling the office; that they could not take a load from a certain dispatch point without first being dispatched by the office; that they were not to directly call shippers in one area; and that Major told them where to load and unload. The Court, applying the standard "Right to Control" test, determined that the drivers in question were employees of Major.

The Court went on to hold: "We find the trial Court was correct in its decision for another and more cogent reason -- that Major was a motor carrier of goods in interstate commerce operating under authority of a certificate of license issued by the Interstate Commerce Commission." The Court went on quoting from §304(e) of Title 49, United States Code Annotated, and from 49 C.F.R. 1057, both of which require that all leases provide for exclusive possession, control and use of

the equipment and for complete assumption of responsibility in respect thereto.

The Court quotes from the holding of the Supreme Court of North Carolina in Brown v. L. H. Bottoms Truck Lines, 117 N.C. 299, 42 S.E. 2d 71, wherein the Court said at page 75:

"The transportation of goods in interstate commerce by motor vehicles was required to be under the rules and regulations of the Interstate Commerce Commission and the Brown truck could only have been used in such transportation by the defendant franchise carrier as one of its fleet of trucks under its license plates. Hence, it would seem to follow that control of the operation for the period of the lease was given to the licensed carrier, and that the owner driven truck was in contemplation of law in its employ and the driver for the trip stood in the relationship of its employee, as found by the Industrial Commission."

"We think the applicable rule, under the facts here presented, is that the lease or contract by which the equipment of the authorized interstate carrier was augmented, must be interpreted as carrying the necessary implication that possession and control of the added vehicle was, for the trip, vested in the authorized operator."

In Proctor v. Colonial Refrigerated Transportation, Inc., 494 F. 2d 89 (Fourth Cir. 1974), the plaintiff sustained serious injuries in an accident while riding

as a passenger in a tractor-trailer being driven by E. O. Bales, the owner-lessor of said equipment, to the defendant Colonial. Colonial was a certified interstate motor carrier and the plaintiff was hired by Bales, the owner-lessor, as an assistant driver.

The issue was stated by the Court as follows:

"The primary issue upon this appeal is whether a motor carrier operating under a certificate from the Interstate Commerce Commission is liable to an employee of a lessor for injuries resulting from the negligence of the lessor in the operation of his equipment in the business of the lessee-carrier."

The Court's holding was as follows:

"As a certified interstate carrier Colonial was subject to the supervision and control of the Interstate Commerce Commission, and in augmenting its equipment through the lease agreement with Bales, it was required to be in compliance with the Commission's regulations, 49 C.F.R. §1057.1-1057.6. These regulations and the statute under which they were promulgated require and provide that under such lease arrangements the lessee-carriers "will have full direction and control of such [leased] vehicles and will be fully responsible for the operation thereof . . . as if they were the owners of such vehicles . . ." These regulations were promulgated by the Commission to correct widespread abuses incident to the use of leased equipment by the

carriers, see American Trucking Association v. United States, 344 U.S. 298, 303, 73 S. Ct. 307, 97 L. Ed. 337 (1953), and the "intent [of the regulations] was to make sure that licensed carriers would be responsible in fact, as well as in law, for the maintenance of leased equipment and the supervision of borrowed drivers." Alford v. Major, 470 F. 2d 132, 135 (7 Cir. 1972). The statute and regulatory pattern clearly eliminates the independent contractor concept from such lease arrangements and casts upon Colonial full responsibility for the negligence of Bales as driver of the leased equipment. Any language to the contrary in the lease agreement would be violative of the spirit and letter of the Federal regulations and therefore unenforceable . . ."

#### CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that Max L. Wynn was outside the course of his employment at the time of his fatal accident and that the decision to return to Clearfield rather than proceed directly to California was not to the benefit of his employer and should not be imposed upon Charles Kinne. It is further submitted that Charles Kinne statutorily was not the employer of Max L. Wynn and therefore has no liability.