1979

Charles Kinne v. Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Defendant State Insurance Fund

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff is seeking review of an Order of the Industrial Commission of Utah awarding workmen's compensation benefits to Susan Wynn as the dependent widow of Max L. Wynn.

DISPOSITION BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

On March 27, 1979, the Industrial Commission entered a final Order awarding Susan Wynn the statutorily prescribed death benefits for the death of her husband Max L. Wynn, who was killed while in the course and scope of his employment with Charles Kinne and Freeport Transport, Inc.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON REVIEW

Plaintiff Charles Kinne is seeking to have the Order of the Industrial Commission set aside as it pertains to him personally.

Defendant State Insurance Fund, as the workmen's compensation insurer for Freeport Transport, Inc., requests that the finding of joint and several liability of Kinne be affirmed on review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In addition to those facts set forth in the brief of plaintiff Charles Kinne, and as a supplement thereto, defendant State Insurance Fund would note that it is undisputed that Charles Kinne owned the vehicle in which Max L. Wynn was riding at the time of his death, that Kinne was responsible for paying the deceased his wages, and that Kinne both agreed by contract to retain the right to hire and fire drivers for his trucks and exercised that right in fact.

The State Insurance Fund has paid Susan Wynn the benefits provided for in the Order of the Industrial Commission and expresses no opinion on plaintiff Kinne's assertion that Mr. Wynn was not within the course and scope of his employment at the time of his death. However, the Fund believes the finding of joint and several liability between Kinne and Freeport Transport, Inc., should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. CHARLES KINNE WAS THE DIRECT EMPLOYER OF MAX L. WYNN AND AS SUCH IS LIABLE TO HIS DEPENDENTS FOR THE STATUTORILY PRESCRIBED WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION BENEFITS.

The essential error in Mr. Kinne's assertion that he was not the employer of Max L. Wynn at the time of his death stems

from a fundamental misunderstanding of the nature of the employer-employee relationship as it has been developed under Utah's Workmen's Compensation Act, Utah Code Ann. §35-1-1, et seq. (1953). Our statute, like most compensation legislation, contains no precise or exhaustive definition of employment. The basic definition of "employer" is found in Utah Code Ann. §35-1-42(2) (Supp. 1979), which provides in relevant part that the term includes

Every person, firm and private corporation, including every public utility, having in service one or more workmen or operatives regularly employed in the same business, or in or about the same establishment, under any contract of hire, express or implied, oral or written . . .

This admittedly vague definition has been interpreted by this Court, since the inception of workmen's compensation, to include all those employer-employee relationships which were included within the traditional common law criteria for defining a master and servant relationship. In early cases decided under the Act, this Court suggested the following tests for determining who was a servant's employer in the absence of an express contract of employment: (1) who was responsible for the selection and employment of the servant; (2) who paid the servant's wages; (3) who had the power to discharge the servant; (4) who had control over his actions; and (5) whose work was being done and who was receiving the benefit of the servant's labors. See Murray v. Wasatch Grading Company, 73 Utah 430, 274 P. 940 (1929); Weber County v. Industrial Comm'n, 93 Utah 85, 71 P.2d 177 (1937).

Experience in other jurisdictions which had adopted these same criteria for determining the existence of the employment relationship made it apparent that the beneficial goals of workmen's compensation legislation were often undermined by a strict application of such master and servant principles. This resulted from the unfortunate propensity of some of those engaged in various forms of commerce to seek to avoid any responsibility to insure their workers by characterizing those performing labor for them as independent contractors. Thus, a primary employer would contract with another individual to secure the performance of certain tasks; this latter individual would provide the laborers, pay them from his own revenues, direct them in most of the aspects of their performance while at work and retain the power to discharge them. In return, the secondary employer would receive a specified sum for completing the directed task. All too often this type of arrangement ended with the employee who was injured on the job discovering both that he had no claim for compensation against the primary employer because of the lack of incidents of the normal master-servant relationship, and that the secondary employer had not procured insurance and had no assets available to satisfy any civil judgment obtained.

To remedy this situation, almost all legislatures adopted the concept of "statutory" or constructive employer. This designation of certain primary employers, such as general contractors, as statutory employers dictated that such persons had the responsibility

to ultimately guarantee that all workers over whom they had some significant rights of supervision and control, and who were working at tasks which were a part of the business of the primary employer, were covered by the provisions of workmen's compensation.

As this Court noted, the purpose of such legislation was:

to protect employees of minor contractors against the possible irresponsibility of their immediate employer, by making the principle employer, who has general control of the business in hand, liable as if he had directly employed all who worked upon any business which he has undertaken.

Lee v. Chevron Oil Co., 565 P.2d 1128, 1130 (Utah 1977).

In Utah, this remedial legislation was enacted by including the following language in the section defining employers covered by the Act:

Where any employer procures work to be done wholly or in part for him by a contractor over whose work he retains supervision or control, and such work is a part or process in the trade or business of the employer, such contractor, and all persons employed by him, and all sub-contractors under him, and all persons employed by any such subcontractors, shall be deemed, within the meaning of this section, employees of such original employer.

Utah Code Ann. §35-1-42 (1953).

As previously stated, the purpose of this legislation was to benefit workmen by expanding their protection under the Act and providing for compensation in situations where a true employee-employer relationship did not exist.

In the instant case, there was no express or implied contract of hire between Max Wynn and Freeport Transport, Inc. However, there was a contract between Freeport and Kinne, whereby Kinne agreed to lease Freeport a tractor and trailer and provide a driver for the unit. Max Wynn was the driver.

There was no question that Freeport Transport exercised enough control and supervision over Max Wynn to bring them within the definition of employer contained in Utah Code Ann. §35-1-42(2) (Supp. 1977), and this finding is not being challenged. Kinne, however, is seeking to be relieved of his compensation liability because of Freeport Transport's involvement in the matter. Such a ruling would be wholly inconsistent with the established principle of workmen's compensation law.

Prof. Larson, in his treatise on Workman's Compensation Law, has noted that a vast majority of states have enacted "contract under" provisions which impose on general employers a compensation liability to the employees of contractors with whom they deal. While the statutory pattern of these provisions vary, the general rule is that "the general contractor who has been required to pay compensation . . . can obtain reimbursement from the subcontractor, unless they have altered this normal pattern by specific agreement." 1B A. Larson, Workmen's Compensation Law §49.11 at 9-2 (1979). See also Blevins & Montgomery Builders, Inc. v. Gregory, 371 S.W.2d 942 (Ky. 1963); Jones v. Southern Tupelo Lumber Co., 257 La. 869, 244 So.2d 815 (1971).

Utah's statute is silent on the subject of whether a general contractor is secondarily, jointly or primarily liable for payment of compensation, but the State Fund would submit that in the absence of any statutory enactment to the contrary, employers' liability must be joint and several to insure the broadest protection for employees and to encourage subcontractors to comply with the mandate of the Compensation Act.

In this case, Kinne agreed contractually with Freeport to provide workmen's compensation insurance for his driver, but failed to do so. If he were allowed to escape all financial responsibility for this failure, it would be an invitation for small contractors to intentionally avoid obtaining insurance for their employees, in direct violation of Utah Code Ann. §35-1-46 (1953).

Plaintiff has cited cases which stand collectively for the proposition that Freeport Transport exercised sufficient control to be deemed an employer of Max Wynn. This contention is not being disputed. However, there is nothing in plaintiff's brief or the organic law of the State to suggest that Freeport's status as an employer eliminates Kinne as an employer and extinguishes his legal obligations.

In Harry L. Young & Sons, Inc. v. Ashton, 538 P.2d 316 (Utah 1975), this Court indicated that

The main facts to be considered as bearing on the [employment] relationship here are:
(1) whatever covenants or agreements exist concerning the right of direction and

control over the employee, whether express or implied; (2) the right to hire and fire; (3) the method of payment . . .; and (4) the furnishing of equipment.

538 P.2d at 318.

In the instant case, Kinne contracted with Freeport to retain the exclusive right to control and direct Max Wynn; he had the right both to hire and fire Wynn; he was responsible for paying Wynn's wages, and he owned the truck and trailer Wynn used in performing his duties. Under any imaginable interpretation of the facts here presented, Kinne was clearly an employer of Wynn. His attempt to have this Court create a judicial exception to an employer's compensation liability when there is found to exist two parties who qualify as employers should be rejected in favor of the more logical and equitable approach adopted by the Industrial Commission of imposing joint and several liability. It is not a question of either/or; it is both.

Even if this Court were disposed to attempt to make a comparison of the employers' actions to determine which should exclusively bear the liability for compensation, application of the tests set forth in the Ashton case, supra, would clearly point to Kinne as the party to be considered exclusively liable.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiff has urged this Court to adopt a rule of law providing that only one party can be deemed liable for an employee's compensation benefits. Such a rule is without foundation in our

statute, would be inconsistent with the practice in other jurisdictions, and contrary to the unquestioned objective of compensation legislation in providing the broadest coverage possible to injured employees. Plaintiff has provided no authority for the proposition that there can be only one employer for compensation purposes and such a holding would encourage small contractors to try to circumvent the requirements of state law that all employers must provide compensation coverage for employees. The defendant State Insurance Fund therefore respectfully requests that the Order of the Industrial Commission imposing joint and several liability be affirmed.